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The town of Norris, located about fifteen miles northwest of Knox-
ville, is a planned community of 1400 residents covering an area of
approximately 4,000 acres. Located within its’ boundaries are some
400 dwellings, approximately eighty-five per cent of which were built
from 1935 to 1937 when the town was begun. The town was based pri-
marily on Ebenezer Howard's Garden City approach to town planning.
Norris still possesses its original green belt area and the original
section of the town is still very much pedestrian oriented with foot
paths segregated from traffic and winding tree lined streets which
reduce car speed. The bulldlngs were consciously placed in harmony
W1th the topography ‘and 1n SOme cases clustered around a common green.

Norris was the first project totally planned and built by the
Tennessee Valley Authority, in conjunction with the construction of
Norris Dam, the first power dam built by TVA. Because of the urgent
need for housing for workers at the dam, it was necessary to proceed
with the construction of houses before the overall town plans were
complete. The first building was a rambling frame cafeteria, now the
headquarters of TVA's Forestry, Fisheries, and Wildlife Development
Division. The only roads were mere tracks through woods and farmland
when the cafeteria started serving construction workers on three
shifts. Cooks worked in overcoats when cold weather struck before
windows were 1nstalled but they kept the chow lines open with food at
twenty-five cents 'a meal for all they could eat. Buses shuttled men
to the construction site and barracks-like dormitories were built to
replace tents where many of the workers had been living. Permanent
houses soon appeared for 2,100 workers.

" Somé 'basic principles were kept in “mifd durlng planning and construc
tion. Norris was to be a permanent small town, even then envisioned
as a segment of the Knoxville metropolitan area; houses and roads
were to blend with, not defy, the slant and curves of hills; open
areas scattered throughout were to supply play space and eye appeal;
design in everything from buildings to signposts was to be straight-
forward and simple; the whole was to be encircled by a greenbelt of
rural and forest land for agriculture and recreation. Norris was the
first town in this country to use the greenbelt concept completely.

T

The sometimes eccentric ideas of the first TVA board chairman, A. E.
Morgan, strongly influenced early Norris. Morgan had a high regard
for the people and culture of Southern Appalachia and he saw the role
of TVA as preserving the ipdividualism of the region while strengthen-
ing it .economically. , .Chimneys and fireplaces went into Norris homes
along with wiring for electric heat. Hand-riven oak shingles covered
roofs. The "dog-trot" of hill country houses was one of a dozen basic
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house designs used with exterior variations - brick, weatherboarding,
native stone, cinder blocks, and shingles. All had open screened-in
porches. Each household was assigned a plot of the common land for
gardening.

A special "hillside house" was planned to fit steep sites, avoiding
deep land cuts and extensive tree cutting. Houses literally nestled
into hills and trees in random pattern, often in semi-circles around
open green spaces. Roads also curved to adapt to the land. Native
stone lined gutters along natural drain channels in lieu of roadside
curbs. Many interiors were wood paneled. Door latches and light
fixtures were wrought iron forged at Antioch College in Ohio, former
home of the Morgans.

Norris was a testing ground for new building ideas. Cinder block
houses with no finish other than paint inside and out, smooth slab
floors of colored concrete, and tin roofs were innovations in low-cost
housing (from $2,325 to $3,150). Improved insulation with mineral
wool and aluminum foil helped cut the cost of electricity for home heat
and also kept houses cool in summer. Norris was a pioneer for large-
scale electric home heating. Ceiling heat, now a common method, was
first placed in two Norris homes. A few homes have coal dust in the
attics to remind of another heating experiment, a "combination of an old
fashioned Franklin stove and a modern forced-draft hot-air furnace.”
Use of these was short-lived.

TVA set up a demonstration dairy farm and poultry farm, shops for
training in woodworking, metals, electrical work, and drafting, and a
ceramics lab to experiment with local clays. The rustic community
building with its natural log columns was an activity center. A Sunday
school class, open to all denominations, met there and later grew into
the Norris Religious Fellowship Church, still non-denominational.

The food store in the new town center was the Norris Cooperative
Society in which shares sold for $10 with one vote to a member regard-
less of the size of investment. The store delivered to homes twice
daily and consistently lost money. It was dissolved in favor of a
private lessee in 1938. The Norris Creamery had become the first
private business under lease in 1937.

As a part of the Norris Dam project, TVA constructed a 2l-mile freeway
which crossed the dam and connected with two impoFtant highways leading
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7. Description (Continued)

out of Knoxville. Designed as a scenic highway with a 250-foot right-
of-way and with access and sign control it became Tennessee's first
freeway-type highway. For Norris, the Freeway helped to overcome some
of the isolation of the townsite and proved important to the orderly
transition of the construction village to a permanent town within the
greater Knoxville region.

The operation of the town required continuing financial support, and
Congress finally demanded that Norris be put on a self-sustaining basis
or be disposed of. On June 15, 1948, the town was sold at public
auction as a unit to Henry D. Epstein, who headed a group of Philadelphi
investors. The sales price was $2,107,500. Sale provisions gave exist-
ing tenants a year's occupancy right and a preference in the purchase
of individual houses. The Epstein group contributed little to the
town. They sold off all the existing houses and then in 1953 sold their
remaining real estate holdings to the Norris Corporation, a local
corporation formed by Norris residents.

Norris today has no neon signs, few commercial services, and no publid
transportation. The majority of the houses remain as they were original
ly, with the exception of asphalt shingle roofs that have replaced the
original wood shingles. Also, many carports and garages have been
added to replace the o0ld community garages that were planned for short
walking distance to homes from rear drives.

With the opening of nearby Interstate 75, the area will be faced with
pressures for new development. Residents of the town are concerned,
and are determined that the atmosphere of the original town of Norris
will be preserved as nearly as is possible.
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In the chronology of new-town development in the United States,
Norris stands between Stein and Wright's Radburh (1928-1929) and the
Resettlement Administration's greenbelt towns (1935-1938). Being the
first self-contained new town in this country to utilize greenbelt
principles completely, it has with varying degrees of accuracy been
called "Model Town," "The First Planned Community,"™ and "The First
All-Electric Town.” The primary significance of the Norris District,
therefore, probably lies in the area of urban planning. It was the
first project totally planned and built by the Tennessee Valley
Authority. It is interesting to note that many of the concerns of
those early depression years were similar to our present-day concerns)
Then, as now, there was a search for programs to deal with problems
of population distribution, land use and settlement patterns, rapid
and disproportionate growth of large cities, loss of economic strength
of rural areas, and generally unsatlsfactory llvlqg ccmzdn.tlons,,w
espe01ally for the poor, in the large eltles. The idea of a new
town in the Tennessee Valley originated w1tq the then newly elected
President, Franklin D. Roosevelt. He saw in reglonal plannlng an
opportunity to bring together solutions to both the farm and city
problems. He proposed that programs be developed which would help
establish small industries in rural areas and also help people move
to small villages. Looking for an opportunity to work out the
elements of this program on a small scale before it was attempted
nationally, the President proposed to A. E. Morgan, the Chairman
of the TVA Board, that TVA build a model community using this concept|
Financing of the community was to come from the $1.4 million which
had been included in the Norris Dam project for temporary housing of
workers plus $750,000 from the Division of Subsistence Homesteads
which the President had created within the Department of the Interior)|

Norris possesses significance also in the area of industry not only
because of its relationship with the construction of Norris Dam, the
first TVA power dam, but also becadiis€ ‘of the irnovative building
ideas, including the practicality of low-cost cinfer 'blocks -for homes;
insulation processes devised to cut the cost of electric heat, and

the utilization of electricity for home heating. Also, the Norris
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8. Significance (Continued)

Creamery became the first all-electric milk-producing plant in the
world, and Norris was the first town in Tennessee to have a complete
system of dial telephones.

Norris scientific laboratories have been pioneers in their fields.
The TVA ceramics laboratory, started in 1935, was the training ground
and experimental base for many flourishing artists and industries. It
did basic research in the use of local clays for ceramics as well as in
design. It was succeeded in 1937 by the United States Bureau of Mines
which conducted experiments with aluminum oxide production and synthetid
mica in the period 1937-1965. The TVA hydraulic laboratory, establish-
ed in 1936, has now grown into the TVA Engineering Laboratory which
conducts experiments for all the TVA divisions including sophisticated
equipment to monitor and protect the environment.

Early Norris experiments in social planning included a school-centered
community with training programs in many crafts and skills. Ceramics,
woodworking, and metal working were among the crafts taught. For years
Norris School was a model for new methods of progressive teaching
through areas of interest, activities, and projects, rather than the
traditional memorizing of texts. The school was monitored and evalu-
ated by leading educators throughout the nation and was much in the
spotlight from 1934 to 1948, when it became a part of the Anderson
County system.

Although the Norris District in age is ten years short of the 50-year
criteria for National Register properties, it is strongly felt that
because of the uniqueness of the town and the several areas of signifi-
cance which it possesses, it would make a valuable addition to the
National Register, and the 50-year requirement should be waived.
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